
 
 

    

   
       

  
    

  
 

 
  
  

 
  

    
       

    
        

       
   

  
    
    

  

    
  

 
  

    
      

     

  

    
  

      
  

         
    

   
   

II. AGENDA ITEMS
A. Add, Delete, Revise and Approve the Agenda

Motion by Ms. Rast, seconded by Ms. Coleman, to approve the agenda. 

Motion carried, unanimously. 

B. Disclosure of conflicts of interest [None]
C. Disclosure of external contacts/discussions [None]

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Chairman Loyd: Moving on to approval of the minutes from March 2, 2022.
Motion by Ms. Coleman, seconded by Ms. Rast, to approve the minutes from the Wednesday, 
March 2, 2022, Zoning Board meeting. 

Motion passed unanimously. 

SOUTHEAST CONSOLIDATED ZONING BOARD 
Johnson County Board of County Commissioners Hearing Room 

3rd Floor 
111 South Cherry Street

Olathe, Kansas 

MINUTES 
Wednesday, April 6, 2022 

6:30 P.M. 

I. CALL TO ORDER
A meeting of the Southeast Consolidated Zoning Board, Johnson County, Kansas, was convened 
at 6:30 p.m. on Wednesday, April 6, 2022, and was called to order by John Loyd, Chairman, with 
the following members present and participating, to-wit, Dan Foil, Kelley Rast, Fred Wingert, 
Kenneth Klingensmith, Dennis Bollin and Emily Coleman de Hidalgo. Also in attendance were 
Sean Pendley, Michelle Kriks and Sherry Cross, Planning Department; and Richard Lind from 
Johnson County Legal. 

IV. BOARD REPORTS
Chairman Loyd: Board of County Commissioners actions?
Mr. Pendley: Good evening, I would note that there was a special meeting of the Board of County 
Commissioners Monday, April 4th, to consider the utility-scale solar facilities regulations. The 
decision, after hearing the presentation and all of the information, the decision of the Board was 
to remand the draft regulations and amendments to the Comprehensive Plan and Zoning 
Regulations back to the Planning Commission, and that will be considered by the Planning 
Commission on May 10th, at which time will be discussion regarding modifications to the 
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regulations, or requests for modifications, and further amendments to those regulations. So, 
Planning Commission will consider that on May 10th at 5:45 here in this room, in the Administration 
Building, Johnson County. Following that decision at some point, from the Planning Commission, 
that will then return to the Board of County Commissioners for final action. The date has not yet 
been set for that meeting. That was a special meeting we had with the Board yesterday. One 
other thing I would note for the Board actions, at the March 2nd Southeast Consolidated Zoning 
Board meeting, this Board recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit for an oversized 
accessory building at 18805 West 175th Street and also recommended approval of a Preliminary 
and Final Plat for two residential lots at 21035 West 180th Street. Those cases were approved by 
the Board of County Commissioners on April 7th. That’s all for Board of County Commissioners 
actions. 
Chairman Loyd: Okay. Planning Commission actions? 
Mr. Pendley: Nothing to note, other than the next meeting for the Planning Commission will be 
April 26th at 5:45, our regular meeting, and then the special meeting on May 10th, as I mentioned, 
for the utility-scale solar regulations. 
Ms. Rast: I have a question. So, when the BOCC remands it back, do they give the rationale of 
why and what amendments and where they’re basing it from, and all that? 
Mr. Pendley: The Board did give direction to the Planning Commission for items for the Planning 
Commission to consider. They did provide those requests as part of an amendment for the 
Planning Commission to consider. I don’t know if it would be rationale, but they do provide those 
items that they request the Planning Commission – 
Commissioner Rast: They don’t give any justification from their standpoint of why they’re asking 
for this from their standpoint, or viewpoint? ? 
Mr. Pendley: In the discussion for the presentation – it was about a four-and-a-half or five-hour 
meeting – there were definitely a lot of questions and there were some opinions and 
recommendations for what some of the Commissioners felt strongly about and what they felt 
would be worth considering. I don’t know if you would call it rationale, other than these are the 
items that they felt were appropriate for the Planning Commission to consider. Of course, a final 
decision will be made upon a second review by the Planning Commission when it returns. So they 
did provide direction and recommendations for the Planning Commission to consider. 
Ms. Rast: Thank you. 
Chairman Loyd: That’s it for Planning Commission? 
Mr. Pendley: That’s all for Board reports, yes. 
Chairman Loyd: Okay. Stilwell Committee Plan, Ken? 
Mr. Klingensmith: Yes, we had started an initiative and focus on some of the history and 
preservation of some of the landmarks, some of the history of Stilwell, as part of that community 
plan. Each of you – I think almost everyone in the room, except for a few of you, got a personal 
invite or reminder about an upcoming gala, where we’re raising money to help execute out some 
of those, not just for the Stilwell area, but for Johnson County as a whole, through the Johnson 
County, Kansas, Heritage Foundation. That initiative this spring is our focus on history and 
preservation in Stilwell, and Aubry Township. 
Chairman Loyd: Thank you, Ken. 
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V. BUSINESS BEFORE THE BOARD 
A. Application No. SE 21-181-CUP (AU) – Conditional Use Permit – 5100 W. 207th 

Street 
Neil Haas, applicant, and Steve Dickey, Jr., BBT LLC, landowner, requesting 
Conditional Use Permit for indoor/outdoor softball/baseball training, Better Ballgame, 
on property Zoned RUR, Rural District, on 53.1 acres, in Section 9 ,Township 15, 
Range 25. 

Chairman Loyd: We have Application No. SE 21-181-CUP, the Conditional Use Permit  at 5100 
West 207th Street. This is the Better Ballgame issue. The applicant has requested a continuance 
to the June 1, 2022, meeting, so we’re going to look for a motion to continue that, and then if we 
make the motion to continue that,  we won’t be taking any comments, or there won’t be any other 
discussion at this time. It will just be a motion and a second, and a vote to continue. So, looking 
for a motion to continue. 
Mr. Klingensmith: I just have a quick question on that. Will we have the option to Zoom in for that? 
Because I’m already scheduled to be out of town on the 31st, in Chicago, and won’t be here on 
the 1st, and this is kind of an important element that I want to be part of. 
Mr. Pendley: That’s a great question. I appreciate that. We were going to mention at the end of 
the meeting that we do plan to begin hybrid meetings with the zoning boards, and I think for sure 
by June, but preferably even starting in May. Yes, absolutely we would make sure for that meeting, 
especially, because we do anticipate a potential large turnout of residents and concerned citizens. 
We would want to have an option for a hybrid meeting where we have virtual and in-person. I 
think we will certainly make sure that’s available for that. 
Mr. Klingensmith: And that will be an option also for Board members? 
Mr. Pendley: Yes. 
Mr. Klingensmith: Okay, thank you. 
Chairman Loyd: Awesome. 
Motion by Mr. Klingensmith, seconded by Ms. Coleman, to continue Application SE 21-181-CUP 
(AU) until the June 1, 2022, meeting. 

Mr. Foil: For the record, I’m abstaining from the vote, because I was not here for the previous 
meetings and have not read the minutes to it, yet. 
Chairman Loyd: Thank you. 
The motion carried (5-0-1) by voice vote. 

Mr. Pendley: Also, I will note, too, that the meeting date will be June 1, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. in the 
County Administration Building, 111 South Cherry Street, this Board Meeting Room. The details 
will be provided on the County’s website for participation, but we do anticipate a virtual meeting 
option as well as in-person. 
Mr. Wingert: Are there any options that we could have that meeting at a larger location? Because 
I see we have chairs tonight. I assume there is a capacity issue in this room. Or, what’s the status 
of the capacity? 
Mr. Pendley: As far as we know, the Board Meeting Room now, the Board has returned to allowing 
full seating in this Board Meeting Room. We anticipate that to continue. We are not aware of any 
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reason why that would be limited again at this time, so we would anticipate that still being 
available. So we would have maximum capacity here. Also, I would say we should have adequate 
capacity. If we do have an overflow in this room, we will be able to provide additional seating in 
the atrium for anyone, if it happens to go over capacity here. We’ll have the PA system on in the 
atrium. 
Mr. Wingert: What is the capacity of this room now? Is it 25 or 30 people? 
Mr. Pendley: I am not sure. 
Mr. Wingert: Can people come and stand, or do they have to be seated? I was just curious. 
Mr. Pendley: We would need to confirm that as well, as far as our occupancy. We’d need to clarify 
that. But we will absolutely, as we get closer to that meeting, make a decision to have additional 
seating available either way, but that’s a good question. 
Mr. Wingert: Thank you. 
Chairman Loyd: Jay, did you have something to add? 
Mr. Leipzig: Good evening, everyone. There used to be a plaque on the wall, pre-COVID, that 
said the maximum capacity of this room. I believe it was 125. Obviously, this room cannot 
accommodate that many people, but I just concur with everything Sean said. The other option we 
have in addition to, in this room and in the atrium area, is we also have an overflow area 
downstairs in the basement where people can watch the meeting on a video as well, so we have 
that space as well that we could utilize. 
Chairman Loyd: Thank you. 
[The motion and vote was repeated with the same result] 
Chairman Loyd: So, June 1st. Not next month, but the June meeting. Okay. 

B.  Discussion for Code of Ethics and Oaths of Office 
Mr. Leipzig: Mr. Chair, I’ll do a quick introduction to this item. The folks that are on the Planning 
Commission have already been through this activity. As you are aware, you have a new Chief 
Legal Counsel, and so we’re working with our boards and commissions to complete an Oath 
of Office for all of the members, as well as an acknowledgment of the Code of Ethics. I’m going 
to bring up Richard Lind, our Deputy County Counselor, that will walk you through this. I also 
want to introduce Michelle Kriks, one of our planners. I will be assisting this evening. Michelle 
is also a notary. With that, I’ll turn it over to Rick. 
Mr. Lind: Thanks, Jay. As Jay alluded to, I have two matters to go over with you. The first is 
the Oath of Office. We’ll go through that, and then the second one is the County’s Ethics Code, 
and we’ll do that separately. 
As to the Oath of Office, there is an Attorney General’s opinion which advises that the Planning 
Commission and zoning boards are required to take and Oath of Office before entering upon 
their duties. While there may be a valid difference of opinion as to whether that’s required or 
not, or office has decided to go forward with that, through the guidance of the AG’s opinion, so 
we are going to follow that decision. 
As such, tonight you’re going to be handed an Oath of Office form that you will be asked to 
sign and date. Furthermore, pursuant to state statute, you’re going to be asked to swear – or 
affirm, if that’s your preference – that you will support the Constitution of the United States and 
the Constitution of the State of Kansas and will faithfully discharge the duties as a member of 
the Southeast Consolidated Zoning Board. We have a notary public present tonight, Michelle, 
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who is going to ask you in a minute to stand, raise your right hand and she’s going to informally 
administer the Oath of Office, plus at the end she might ask you for your identification if she 
needs that for identification purpose as a notary. But I’ll leave that up to her. If she knows you, 
she may not ask you for that. She will fill out the lower portion of the Oath of Office form, which 
is reserved for the notary to sign, so she will do that. And then she will collect all of the 
completed oaths for our records. Is there any questions on the Oath portion? Okay, if there’s 
none, then I’ll turn it over – 
Ms. Coleman: I have questions. Thank you. The oath that we’re going to take, is that reflected 
directly in this verbiage, in this packet? 
Mr. Lind: The oath is a statutory oath, and the oath that…I don’t know what’s been handed out 
to you. But I assume that the oath is exactly what the statute says. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay, so this is a state statute? 
Mr. Lind: Yes. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. Is there someplace where that state statute is elucidated in this packet? 
Mr. Lind: If you want me to go grab the state statute, I’m right down the hallway. Let me go get 
it. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. 
Mr. Lind: I’ll be right back. 
Ms. Coleman: He’s saying that there’s a state statute, but whether it’s clear that it’s actually 
required or not? Did anybody else - ? 
Mr. Lind: All I’m going to verify is what the statute says. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. 
Mr. Leipzig: If I could just say one thing without confusing topics. As we mentioned, we went 
through this similar process with the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission is also 
developing bylaws for the Planning Commission. Our next step in this process is to develop 
the bylaws for the zoning boards, so you’ll see that here this summer, as we work through that 
process, and we have a template that we’re using for the zoning boards. We’ll bring that to 
you. It probably will not be until, I anticipate probably June, before that’s brought before you, 
but we’ll try to do it on an evening where there’s not a large number of cases, or something like 
that. I meant to say that in my initial comments. 
Chairman Loyd: Perfect. Thank you, Jay. 
Mr. Lind: I should have anticipated that question. Fortunately my office is down the hall. 
Chairman Loyd: Rick, we have a couple questions from up here before you get going, so it 
might help you. 
Mr. Lind: Sure. 
Chairman Loyd: Is the Oath or the Code of Ethics, is either one of those a statute? 
Mr. Lind: The Oath is. The Code of Ethics is the – 
Chairman Loyd: Is the guidance. 
Mr. Lind: Is a document adopted by the Board of County Commissioners for themselves and 
for all appointed boards. 
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people in the public had asked why you hadn’t taken an oath. So, instead of getting into that 
legal discussion, we just decided to go ahead and take the oath. 
Ms. Coleman: Why I hadn’t taken an oath? 
Mr. Lind: For you all to the Oath. 
Ms. Coleman: All of us. Just the Planning, though? This doesn’t apply to any other board? 
Mr. Lind: All of the boards. We’re going through a process where all of the appointed boards 
are taking the oath and getting the Code of Ethics. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay, so it’s not just a Planning Commission thing. It’s every board. You’re going 
to be busy. 
Mr. Lind: You normally don’t see me. This is like my third or fourth. I’ve been before the 
Planning Commission. I’ve been before the Board of Zoning Appeals, Southwest Zoning 
Board, and now tonight. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. Is this the same oath as the Commissioners take? 
Mr. Lind: Yes. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay, so everything that’s written out in the oath that we’re going to take tonight 
will be the same as – 
Mr. Lind: The only question that had come up was on the appointed boards, and a number of 
them had not, and so we just decided to go ahead and do those, since the question got raised. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. Will we get a chance to read the Oath before – 
Mr. Lind: Yes. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. 
Mr. Lind: I’m going to read it to you. 
Ms. Coleman: And then you’re looking at the statute. You said it was an opinion or a statute? 

Ms. Coleman: Is it a new statute this year? 
Mr. Lind: No. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. But nobody has been asked to take a loyalty oath prior to now? 
Mr. Lind: Correct. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay, was it just an oversight, or - ? 
Mr. Lind: There’s an Attorney General’s opinion that says that you should, but that opinion is 
open to debate as to whether you need to or not. So, that issue had been brought up, and 

Mr. Lind: I’m going to read you the statute. There’s an Attorney General’s opinion that says 
zoning boards and planning commissioners need to take the Oath. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. 
Mr. Lind: This is KSA 54-106. “All officers elected or appointed under any law of the State of 
Kansas shall, before entering upon the duties of their respective offices, take and subscribe an 
oath or affirmation as follows: ‘I do solemnly swear, or affirm as the case may be, that I will 
support the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Kansas, and 
faithfully discharge the duties of whatever board you’re appointed to, so help me God.’” 
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Ms. Coleman: Okay, so that’s the entire oath? 
Mr. Lind: That’s the Oath, and that’s what you’re going to be asked to sign tonight. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay. 
Mr. Lind: All right. Any questions? 
Mr. Klingensmith: No additional questions. 
Mr. Lind: Okay, if there’s not, I’m going to let Michelle do her thing. 
Ms. Kriks: In just a moment I’m going to ask everybody to please stand and raise your right 

present tonight a copy of that Code. You’re going to see after you get a copy that under Section 

you and read it, and please familiarize yourself with it. If you have any questions about it after 
reading it, please call me, Rick Lind, Johnson County Legal Department, or my boss, Peg 
Trent, who is the Chief Counsel of Johnson County. We would be happy to discuss any 
questions you have about it. 

'

hand and repeat after me. Once we are done doing the Oath, I will have you go ahead and 
sign the form above your name. I will collect them, and I will notarize them. We will then be 
forwarding you a copy of the notarized Oath of Office for your personal record, but we will also 
be sending them up to Linda Sader, County Clerk. So if everybody could please stand and 
raised you right hand, and please repeat after me. 
[Recitation of the Oath]: 
“I [name] do solemnly swear or affirm that I will support the Constitution of the United States 
and the Constitution of the State of Kansas and faithfully discharge the duties as a member of 
the Southeast Consolidated Zoning Board, so help me God.” 
Ms. Kriks: Thank you. If you could please sign the form, I’ll come around and collect them. 
Mr. Lind: Okay, the second matter I want to visit with you about tonight is the County’s Ethics 
Code. We have printed out for each of you a copy of the Code of Ethics for Johnson County 
Government, and in a minute I’m going to ask Michelle to hand each and every one of you 

2, it’s made applicable to all persons who are elected or appointed officials of Johnson County, 
Kansas, including all persons appointed by the Board of County Commissioners to any 
position, board or commission, which would include all of you. Please take the Code home with 

The Code is intended to establish standards of conduct expected for those who act for or on 
behalf of the public, in the performance of all their governmental duties and responsibilities. 
Once again, should you ever have a question regarding the Code, and whether or not you’re 
in a situation where you’re unsure if your participation in a matter may violate the Code, then 
by all means call either me or Peg, and we can discuss that. It’s best if you do that before the 
hearing at which the issue is going to take place. If you have a situation where you think, “Hey, 
I think I m conflicted out,” or “I don’t know if I’m conflicted out,” please call me. We can visit 
about it before the hearing. We’ll try to give you some direction. If you don’t want to call me, 
call Chief Counsel, and she can do the same. 
We have an Acknowledgment of Receipt form that’s going to be passed out to you in a minute. 
This form confirms that you have received a copy of the Ethics Code. We’re requesting that 
you please sign and date the form. Although we’re asking you to complete it, please be aware 
that the Code of Ethics will apply to you whether or not you sign the form, plus the failure to 
sign the form does not relieve a member of their responsibility to understand and adhere to the 
Code of Ethics. However, we would appreciate your cooperation in signing the form. Once 
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should bring that up. But how do we do our job if we’re not allowed to be out talking with the 
citizens? I’m also under the understanding that we can still talk to Board members as long as 
it's not a quorum. Do you agree with everything I just said? 
Mr. Lind: Well, let me try to break down a couple of things that you said. If I leave something 
out, remind me. We tried to do training, especially with new members. Jay has been very good 
about trying to have training sessions. Some of that didn’t occur with COVID, but we try to have 
training sessions. So to answer your question of, “What are we supposed to do?” we try to 
have those training sessions to help you. Just real briefly – and I’m not going to go into this in 
any great detail, and I’m sure you’ve all heard this before – but for me, it’s a lot easier to explain 
what’s going on at a zoning board level, because you all are purely quasi-judicial officers. For 
those who may be unfamiliar with that, quasi-judicial means you’re “judge-like.” You’re not a 
judge, but you’re “judge-like.” As that, there are some rules and responsibilities as being like a 
judge that you can’t do. Much like if you were in litigation, you wouldn’t want your opponent to 
be able to woodshed the judge without you being there and hearing what’s being said. Those 
are called ex parte communications. So, for zoning board members, our advice is, yeah, you 
need to avoid talking to people outside the public hearing process, because that is an ex parte 
communication. 
Ex parte communications can become problematic if your case, your decision, is appealed to 
Johnson County District Court. They can make an issue of that. What we advise you to do is 
don’t have those conversations. There are situations where you can’t avoid them. If you’re in 
the grocery store and you’re in line with somebody who recognizes who you are, and they want 
to talk to you about it, our advice would be, “Look, I can’t talk about that. Please show up at 
the hearing and tell us all what you want to say.” They may not take no for an answer. They 
may start talking to you about the merits of the application. What I mean by that, if they say, 
“Hey, Kelley, what time is the meeting next month?” that’s not substantive. If you tell them 
“8:00,” don’t worry about it. But if they say, “Hey, Kelley, there was a drainage issue. Let me 
have your ear and talk to you about that,” that starts getting into the substance and the merits 
of the application, which you don’t want to get into. 
Ms. Rast: Right, and I agree. I’m sorry to interrupt. I’m just going to say, since I’m also on the 

you’re done with the form, we’ll collect the and keep them for our records. Is there any question 
about the Ethics Code? 
Chairman Loyd: Questions? 
Ms. Rast: I have a question. Being on the Planning Commission, this is also a point where it 
kept getting brought up, and there is still some confusion, as far as when you read this it’s a lot 
about building the trust of the citizens and that kind of stuff. I view our job as to be to listen to 
the citizens, hear what they have to say. But when you read the Code of Ethics, it’s just, you’re 
always walking a tight line of one or the other. It’s somebody’s opinion, because maybe you 
spoke to somebody out in your area, whether that can be used against you, or whether you 

Planning Commission, we all follow the same Code of Ethics, but on the Planning Commission 
it is a little bit okay to talk to the citizens. So, how can the Code of Ethics for me be the same 
for both boards, but doing the same action on one board is not okay, and then doing the same 
action on another board is okay? 
Mr. Lind: Yeah, and with the Planning Commission you’re legislative. You’re not quasi-judicial. 
For lack of a better term you’re quasi-legislative. You’re more like the State of Kansas 
Legislature. So, in the legislative process, courts are more lenient with ex parte 
communications. In the legislative field it is not frowned upon if people talk to you about how 
they want you to vote on a certain topic. We all can talk to our legislators and tell them, “Vote 
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don’t have that. So what we tell you to do is if people want to lobby you, tell them, “Either 
please put it in writing what you just told me, and submit it to Jay, or show up at the public 
hearing and repeat that, so everybody can hear it.” It’s important for everyone else to hear it, 
because if Kelley Rast is a Planning Commissioner, and she’s hearing evidence, but the other 
Planning Commissioners are not, then you’re not hearing all the same evidence. And if you’re 
relying on that evidence and that’s important for your decision, then everyone needs to know 
what it was you were relying on that made you vote. So that’s a very difficult thing to tell lay 
people why, on the one hand with quasi-judicial, which is what you are here today, don’t have 
those conversations at all. On the other hand, you’ve got Planning Commissioners who, okay, 
you’re going to have that conversation, but ensure the fact that that gets recorded somewhere 
so we have the record of the proceedings. 
Ms. Rast: Okay, then I have two comments about that. One, from a zoning board standpoint, -
which has been brought up on the Planning Commission that we want to look at – is that it is 
imperative that the citizens have the utmost transparency of what’s going on, and that’s 
something that I know a lot of people have wanted to re-look at, some of the things of how the 
zoning board works. Because the citizens sometimes are kind of limited as far as the 
knowledge, or what information they get, so if we can’t talk to them, it’s very important that this 
side does whatever they can to give citizens as much as information regarding any application 
that is in their area. That would be one comment. 
The second comment, we also…This is my opinion. I’ve been on the Board now about a year, 
I guess. There hasn’t been any training. I would say a month into the solar stuff…Well, I started 
with the solar stuff, so that’s all I know. I was contacted by a lobbyist for NextEra. I didn’t know 
what to do, so I called the Planning Department and was like, “Is this okay?” and I was told it’s 
okay to go have coffee. So, as we’re doing all of this, I think maybe it’s important we all get on 
the same page with the proper training, because I can say I’ve been given the exact opposite 
information, or advice, that you just gave me. So, we need to get on record as far as everybody 
doing the same thing, so everybody knows what the guidelines should be. Everything you said 
makes absolute sense, but I can say I was given not that advice. 
Mr. Lind: You know, you are in a unique situation, and I’m not going to argue with that. COVID 

no,” or “Vote yes.” The problem with those conversations are not so much ex parte like with 
quasi-judicial officers on a zoning board, but remember at the end of the day when you’re 
legislative, we still have to have the record of the proceedings as to the evidence you 
considered that went into your decision-making process. 
So for the solar farm regulations, Jay has a website dedicated to all of the information that’s 
been submitted, all of the emails, all of the information that has been given to the Planning 
Commission and those folks to look at, and that’s the record of the proceedings. If you’re having 
a sidebar conversation with people, and you’re relying on that evidence, we don’t know what it 
is, so that when we certify, “This is the record that the Planning Commission considered,” we 

has thrown that off. I’ve been here for 37 years, and we have not had the training that we’ve 
had under this Planning Director. This Planning Director has taken it upon himself to do 
training, so we’ve had three or four of those training sessions. You’re right. In the last year, we 
didn’t, and COVID played a big role in that. 
Ms. Rast: Again, it’s totally fine. I just think some of this stuff is serious stuff. Everybody should 
make sure they understand all of it, because it could end up causing them a headache or 
trouble down the road, and it’s not fair if they’ve been given wrong information, or we’re not 
being consistent. Does that make sense? So, I do think it’s probably a necessary thing. 
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Commissioner Rast: And had a question, like, “Is this allowed? I’m new at this,” and I go and 
have coffee with this person. I was told that’s totally fine. I didn’t need to do anything about it. 
That’s where I’m saying, if somebody had wanted to make trouble against this Code of Ethics, 
I could have gotten in trouble. That’s why I’m just saying it’s probably pretty important that, 
especially with the solar stuff, that we’re all told the right information of how we’re moving 
forward. 
Mr. Lind: I’ve got it. 
Chairman Loyd: Do you have something to add? 
Mr. Leipzig: Yes, Mr. Chairman. I just wanted to reiterate a couple things that Rick had said. 
We have tried to have an annual meeting for the Planning Commission and Zoning Boards 
where we have training on a variety of topics. We’ll do ex parte communications. We’ll do 
conflict of interest provisions, that type of thing. We used to have it in January, and we’ll try to 
get back on that schedule. Because of COVID we weren’t able to do that the last couple of 
years. We’re trying to get something scheduled for June. It looks like a good month to do 
something like that. So yeah, it’s forthcoming. Just trying to get some time on the calendar. It’s 
not so much getting the Boards together. It’s getting the space available in this room. That’s 
been the challenge, but we’ll get something scheduled very soon. We were actually talking 
about that the last couple of weeks in Planning. 
Mr. Lind: You know, the other thing – and Mr. Foil, I’m sure he’s going to get this, because he’s 
new – but if you all haven’t gotten the handouts from the years before – and I’m guessing 
Kelley Rast, the answer is no – but if the rest of you haven’t gotten those…I know Dennis, your 
face is very familiar. You’ve been on for a long time. You’ve probably seen me at these things, 
and you’ve gotten a number of my handouts. we 
[inaudible] 
Mr. Lind: Yeah, there you go. So, we have a handout on ex parte communications, and you 
ought to have that, and there you go. And we have one on the Golden factor analysis. 
Ms. Rast: I have those, but when I call and ask, “Can I basically do this?” I was told, yeah, it’s 

Mr. Lind: I think, with you being on the Planning Commission – and tell me if I’m wrong, because 
I need to know – but Peg Trent, Chief Counsel, I think I repeated what she told the Planning 
Commission. If I haven’t, then visit with me either now or afterwards, because I need to know 
that, because Peg and I need to be…I was there when she visited with the Planning 
Commission, so I think I’m being consistent. 
Commissioner Rast: Oh, yeah, no. You’re pretty much consistent with what she said. It was 
just talking about when I just called the – 
Mr. Lind: When you had a question. 

totally fine. I didn’t need to do anything, but from what I’m hearing you say, going forward, you 
should make it a record and have it in writing. 
Mr. Lind: Yeah. So, if you have those handouts, those are the last couple years. We did one 
for each year, so if you have those. And then there was a handout by Jim Kalp. We were going 
to have Cindy Dunham in my office – she’s the Deputy of the Legal Department. She’s an 
expert on public meetings, the Kansas Open Meetings Act. That was a question you raised. 
Yeah, it’s not an ex parte communication for zoning board members to visit with each other, 
but you have to be careful, because you can run afoul of the Kansas Open Meetings Act. And 
how that would really easily occur is if you get what’s called “chain” or “sequencing” 
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conversations. Kelley Rast calls Fred, who calls Emily, and then all of a sudden, you’ve got a 
chain or series of these communications where now you’ve got a majority of a quorum, and 
you can get sideways with Kansas Open Meetings. So you do have to be careful about those, 
so if you’re having a conversation between two of you, you have to be careful. The other thing 
we have to be careful of is if we send you an email, we typically put at the beginning and at the 
end, “don’t reply to all,” and if you have a question, call me directly. Because if I send an email 
to all of you, and one of you replies back, you’ve just replied to all of your zoning board 
members, and we may have an Open Meetings issue. So, that’s another easy one that you 
have to be careful of. Any other questions on the Ethics Code? 
Ms. Coleman: Yeah, so if we are cornered in the grocery store and somebody ends up sharing 
information with us, and we tell them to submit that in writing or come to the Board meeting, 
and they don’t, as long as we communicate that that conversation happened, then those 
concerns are alleviated? 
Mr. Lind: What we tell you is, number one, don’t have ex parte communications when you’re 
on the zoning board. When you’re approached, explain to them that you can’t. Explain to them 
that, if they want to tell you something, please show up at a public hearing and let everyone 
hear it. But if they don’t, what you’re going to have to do – and this is what our recommendation 
is – is you have to disclose the ex parte communication. So if you get woodshedded and you 
talk about the merits of the application, when the Chair – and he did it tonight - “Are there any 
disclosures of ex parte communications?” “Yes, Mr. Chairman, I want to disclose that last 
Thursday Mr. Jones had a conversation with me, and here’s what we discussed.” A number of 
people will make a disclosure, but then they just say, “Mr. Jones called me, and I don’t think I 
have a conflict, so I’m going to vote.” Well, you haven’t told us anything, because the disclosure 
of the ex parte communication is to let everyone know, not only who your communication was 
with, but what was said. What did you talk about? And you have to give enough substance so 
people know what the conversation was about. If they were talking about the drainage issues, 
or they were talking about lighting, or they were talking about the term, you have to go into 
what was the conversation about, so everyone knows what you guys talked about. 
Then the question becomes, you’ve disclosed it. You’ve said what it was about. Now is the big 
question. Can you still vote and not be biased? Was there anything about that conversation 
which would now cause you to vote one way or the other? So, there needs to be what they call 
a “cleansing statement,” where you say, “There was nothing about that conversation that would 
cause me to vote one way or the other. I am going to wait until I hear all of the evidence in the 
record. Then I will decide, and my decision will be based upon the evidence in the record, not 
upon anything that was said to me.” Okay? If you can’t say that, then you need to recuse 
yourself. You need to step down, because then what you’re saying is, “Hey, look. I want to 
disclose that my brother-in-law came up at a family reunion and started talking to me about 
this stuff, and he said, ‘Listen, we’re not going to talk to you again if you vote for this thing,’ and 
that’s what we talked about. So my brother-in-law now is going to make this very difficult, and 
I’m not going to vote, because I don’t want to deal with that. I’m stepping down. I’m going to 
recuse myself.” If you say that there was nothing about that conversation that would cause me 
to go one way or the other, then you have to be sincere and tell the truth, and although we 
hope it doesn’t happen. If there is litigation, that’s fair game on them taking your deposition and 
asking further questions. 
I mean, the one thing we want to do for you is we don’t want your outside activities to be the 
focal point of any litigation. What we want is your recommendation to go to the Board of County 
Commissioners clean, and then the Board of County Commissioners’ decision to be clean. 
What I mean by “clean” is the argument in front of the court is whether the decision was 
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one. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay, yeah, because it would put loyalty to the County over loyalty to the 
Constitution. Which is kind of contrary to what we just swore. 
Mr. Lind: Okay. Anything else? 
Mr. Klingensmith: I have two questions. One is, if we get communications that have been 
circulated around the community prior to the meetings, I’ve been forwarding those to staff. E-
mails that I receive, I forward to staff, but I don’t disclose them at the hearing, because I kind 
of incorporate that staff will incorporate that into their report or into the documents that then 
are provided to everyone. Is that an accurate approach? 
Mr. Lind: That’s a good approach. The only thing I would probably say is if somebody sent you 
an email, and you’ve given it to Jay, and now it’s disclosed and you’re not hiding anything, 
you’ve made it aware. Anybody can read it and see what it was. The question is going to be, 
what did that email do to affect your decision-making? So, someone may say, “Hey, thank you 
for disclosing this, but did what they said in the email cause you anything?”  A cleaner 
suggestion may be, “I received an email. It was from Mr. Jones. I forwarded it to Jay. It’s in the 
record. There was nothing about that email that’s going to cause me to vote one way or the 
other. I’m waiting until I hear all of the evidence to make my decision. 
Mr. Klingensmith: Understand. 
Mr. Lind: And the Chair will do this every time. The Chair goes to the chairman training. He 
knows he’s got to read that. So every time, he’s going to read that, and it takes 10 seconds. 
Mr. Klingensmith: I understand. The second thing is duties of this office. Do we have a roster 
of the duties or the scope for each of our positions on the zoning board? From my position with 
Aubry Township that’s very easy. It’s statutory. But for here, is there a document of that? 
Mr. Lind: Same thing, and if you don’t have it, we can get that for you. Our Zoning Act is Chapter 
19. It’s 19.29.56. That’s the Act. It goes through 64, and if you read that, you will see what the 
State of Kansas says for zoning board members in Johnson County. 
Mr. Klingensmith: Perfect. Thank you. 

reasonable or not. We don’t want the argument to be whether somebody had a conflict of 
interest and was biased and didn’t disclose it, and voted. Because then you become the focal 
point of the litigation, not your decision. And we don’t want that for you. 
Ms. Coleman: Okay, I have one other question. We just swore a loyalty oath to the Constitution. 
Are these Codes of Ethics, these standards, are they written in a priority order, or are these all 
given equal weight? 
Mr. Lind: I have not been told there’s a priority order, much like a number of people argue in 
the United States Constitution that the First Amendment is the most important because it’s first. 
I haven’t been told that there is a priority order, that if it’s first, it take precedent over the second 

Ms. Coleman: One final question. Maybe two. Is everybody in employment or appointed 
positions or elected positions, are they being asked to sign the Code of Ethics? 
Mr. Lind: That’s my understanding, is – 
Ms. Coleman: So the Commissioners are signing this, and you’re signing this, and you guys 
are signing this? 
Mr. Lind: Well, let me back up. What I’ve been asked to do from Chief Counsel is to make sure 
that you all sign your Oath, because I read you the statute, and also that you are responsible 
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for knowing the Code and adhering to it, because that’s what the Code says, so this is to ensure 
that a copy has been given to you. So we have an acknowledgement form for you to 
acknowledge that you were handed it. But even if you’re not being asked to sign it, you’re still 
bound by it. I’ve just been asked to do it for Planning, Planning Commission and zoning boards, 
so I’m not doing the Solid Waste Management Committee. My understanding is, yes, they are 
going to be asked to do the same, but I’m not doing all that. 
Ms. Coleman: You had to sign it? 
Mr. Lind: I have not signed the Code of Ethics, but I’m responsible for it, even though I haven’t 
signed it, but no one has asked me to sign the Code of Ethics. 

of the intention is to go through this exercise for all of the boards. I know during the next few 
months that will be a focus at all of these meetings, probably through the summer. 
Mr. Lind: If there’s no questions, I’m going to ask Michelle to do her thing. 

the Code of Ethics. This is just acknowledging that you have it in your hand, not that you either 
agree or disagree with it. Please sign it and just set it back up on the dais, and I will come by 

you a copy for your personal records. 

at all? We don’t vote to continue it again? 

Ms. Coleman: Are we able to get copies of peoples’ signed Code of Ethics. 
Mr. Lind: Yes. If you make a request through KORA, you can get those. I’ve been here for 37 
years, so my memory doesn’t recall doing acknowledgement of the Code of Ethics, but I did 
have a KORA request on my 1985 Oath, and we found it. 
Ms. Coleman: Thank you. 
Chairman Loyd: Jay? 
Mr. Leipzig: I just wanted to reiterate a couple things that Rick had said. We are going through 
all of our boards and commissions in the Planning Department, which there are several of 
those. All of our zoning boards, Board of Zoning Appeals, also our housing boards as well as 
Transportation Council, Contractor Licensing. We’re going through them all in Planning. I know 
that the Wastewater Advisory Committee is also going through a similar process, so it is 
happening throughout the County. I can’t absolutely verify that, but I know that that’s been kind 

Ms. Kriks: As Rick Lind has indicated, I will be passing out an Acknowledgement of Receipt for 

and collect them. We will be forwarding these to Lynda Sader as well, but we will also provide 

Chairman Loyd: Sean, one minor question not related to the Code of Ethics or the Oath, but 
the continued item. We voted to continue it to June, so next month it just isn’t on the agenda 

Mr. Pendley: That is correct. On the May meeting we will not have any agenda item regarding 
that application. It will just proceed to the June 1st meeting. I will also note, staff is preparing 
courtesy letters that we’re sending out to all the property owners within 1,000 feet of that as a 
reminder for what happened here, and that it was continued to the June 1st meeting, so they 
will be aware of that. We’ll also note, too, what the details are for participation in the meeting, 
that there will be an option for virtual attendance, and/or in person. 
Chairman Loyd: Awesome. Thank you. So, Code of Ethics and Oath of Office? Any more 
discussion, questions, comments? 
Mr. Wingert: Mr. Chairman, since Mr. Lind is here, I had a couple questions about zoning legal 
issues. We don’t get the honor of having you here very often. I don’t think you’ve been at the 
meetings I’ve been at. When there is a complaint, say a property has a Conditional Use Permit 

Southeast Consolidated Zoning Board 13 April 6, 2022 



 
 

    

  
  

    
 

  
     

 
        

  
    

              
      

                
 

               
  

       
    

  
  

   
  

 
     

                  
  

     
       

  
  

     
  

    
  

 
              

   
   

  
    

    
    

    
               

   

and a citizen has a complaint, how does that citizen file that, and then how does that get run 
through the County? 
Mr. Lind: When you say complaint, help me out. 
Mr. Wingert: Oh, if there was a Conditional Use Permit  and the applicant was going against 
the Conditional Use Permit. Say, operating outside the hours or say they were doing an activity 
on a property that they didn’t have a Conditional Use Permit to do something and someone 
filed a complaint. Where does go, and how does that get handled? 
Mr. Lind: If somebody calls me and says to me what you just said, I’m going to refer them to 
the Planning Department. The Planning Department has a Code Enforcement Officer who they 
are responsible to take complaints and then go investigate them, if there is a violation that they 
will be put on notice that there’s a violation. Typically, the County is looking for compliance so 
they would be given an opportunity to cure. If they don’t get it fixed, then Code Enforcement 
Officer can take them to Codes Court, which is like Municipal Court for cities. It’s the Johnson 
County District Court, County Codes Division, where violations of County rules and regulations 
can be heard, and they can be ticketed, and they can have a trial and if found guilty, they can 
be fined. Those cases are appealed de novo, which means “anew” to Johnson County District 
Court so it can, just like Municipal Court cases are, it can go through that process as well. But 
that’s kind of the process we go through. However, if after several tickets this becomes the 
cost of doing business, then there are other procedures that can be looked at as far as whether 
their CUP ought to have a revocation hearing as to we’re not getting compliance through fining 
and that route, so we may have a hearing on that. 
Mr. Wingert: Thank you. 
Commissioner Rast: Just a follow-up. There is a grievance process. Is it written down 
someplace where people can go to and see, and then if there are complaints and all the things 
you just kind of said, is that open to the public to follow and know and be a part of? Or again, 
transparency? 
Mr. Lind: You know, there is a not a “If you have a problem, here’s what to do.” Most people 
that have a problem call up and report it. Those phone calls don’t come to me. I can’t recall 
one – 
Ms. Rast: So there’s really not a written grievance process in the books someplace 
Mr. Lind: I mean, when you say a written grievance process – 
Ms. Rast: Well, a process that is somewhere in the Regulations that citizens know. Because 
even just that has been something I have seen over and over being on the zoning board. When 
people call in during the CUP and say, “What do we do if the people aren’t compliant?” And 
then we give the CUP…giving grace and hope that the people are going to do what they’re 
supposed to, but I do think there needs to be a process in place that the citizens know how it 
all works, what they can expect, what the steps are if things don’t stay in compliance. I believe 
that’s a huge part. That’s the other side of if the people are doing well on the CUP, that’s great. 
They’re following it, but if they are not, there needs to be a written regulation process, and the 
public needs to know where that is, how to access it. And then if applicants are under this or 
going through the grievance, or a violation has been brought up against them, that needs to 
be open to the public, too, to follow what’s going on, right? 
Mr. Lind: As far as that’s concerned, the answer is yes, there is. The form that it’s in is just like 
all of you – and me, too – are subject to all of the laws of the State of Kansas. This is one 
volume. You’re subject to this. Is it in writing? Yes. Here it is. So, if you go to Chapter 20, you’ll 
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see all the state violations that if you do that, the DA will come and the police will come and it 
says what all those are. And then we have another book that says, “Here’s the process as to 
how all those people get prosecuted, or whatever,” and we have that, and it’s the Zoning 
Regulations. We have adopted zoning regulations. Article 6 talks about fines. It talks about 
how, if you have a violation of a CUP here is what you can be charged with. It talks about going 
through the different processes, so yes. We have the revocation hearing is in Article 23. It’s 
there. So, is it written? Yes. Is it available to the public? Yes. But just like with this, how many 
people look at it? 
Ms. Rast: Right, so on the website – 
Mr. Klingensmith: There is, if I can just answer. Article 6 on the Enforcement and Violations 
and Penalties for the Zoning and Subdivision Regulations, that is on Johnson County’s website, 
under Zoning. It’s a two-page document, with the fines listed. 
Mr. Lind: And all the zoning regulations are. 
Commissioner Rast: Okay, perfect. Because that comes up a lot. 
Mr. Klingensmith: Yeah, it’s under the Zoning Regulations and all 33 articles are there. And 
this is Article 6, as he referenced. 
Mr. Wingert: If the Board has a concern about a CUP that was passed in history, is there any 
mechanism the Board can bring a CUP up for review as Board members? 
Mr. Lind: I don’t know of one. 
Mr. Wingert: Thank you. 
Chairman Loyd: All right. Any more discussion of Code of Ethics, Oath of Office? Any other 
questions for Rick? All right. 
Chairman Loyd: Any other business? 
Mr. Klingensmith: I have a question. Is there a process in which Conditional Use Permits that 
have been approved but aren’t appearing to be moving forward within a community that there’s 
an update or a status check? How can we inquire about that? I’ll give you the specific one I’m 
thinking of – the baseball field at Nall and 191st that was going to be moving, Stilwell 
Smokehouse property. We knew they had commented about moving that into the fall, but I’m 
kind of curious if that is still moving forward, or if he’s going to sit on that like five years, like he 
did the previous one? 
Mr. Pendley: It’s a good question. What I would say for that…To be honest, I don’t know the 
current status directly for that specific CUP, but certainly we can always look that up. Staff will 
check that. What I will say is this, any of these conditional use permits do have terms. That 
particular baseball facility and that CUP for the athletic complex did have a term. I want to say 
that that expires in 2023, but we will confirm that. What I recall from the discussion from the 
owner and applicant at that time, what they indicated, was once they had the new facility open 
they would just be letting that expire. 
But when it does expire, that will have to come into question. If it is still being used, they will 
either need to renew, or if there is another use proposed that would require a CUP they would 
need to renew the Conditional Use Permit . But certainly we can always check on the status of 
a Conditional Use Permit , but unless there is some reason why it was either requested to be 
rescinded or to be terminated, the Conditional Use Permit would still be in effect. And that 
particular one is still valid. They do still have a valid CUP. From what I know about the new site 
on Metcalf, that owner is moving forward with a building permit. They have a building permit 
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issued. They have the demolition permit, and I believe the old Stilwell Smokehouse building 
has been removed, or is in the process of being removed, and they are moving forward with 
the building permit for the new facility. But certainly we can always check on that on any one 
individual site to see what the status of it is. 
Mr. Wingert: Thank you. 
Mr. Foil: I have a question. Do renewals come back before this Board as well? 
Mr. Pendley: Yes. A renewal for any Conditional Use Permit  would have to be presented to 
the Zoning Board. A recommendation would have to be made by the Zoning Board and then 
the permit would have to be approved by the Board of County Commissioners. And a public 
hearing would be required for that as well. Any time the CUP expires, a new public hearing will 
have to be held for that renewal. 
Mr. Wingert: Are there written criteria for reviewing a CUP and for once it’s in effect for 
approving it, or not approving it going forward? 
Mr. Pendley: The criteria that we review that would be presented to the Board would be the 
criteria that we evaluate in the Zoning Regulations in our land use decisions. As I think Mr. Lind 
indicated, there is a report. Actually, I think that he authored for the Golden factors, this Golden 
criteria that staff reviews for these applications. This is based on previous state legislative 
action and actually court decisions, but the County uses the Golden factors for the review of 
these applications. We provide that in our analysis in the reports you may be familiar with that. 
But that report that Legal has provided that provides the information and the background 
regarding Golden criteria, that is something that we can share with the Board to review. That’s 
essentially the land use decision that you’re making should be based on that rational review 
and analysis of a land use action. That information can certainly be provided to the Board, but 
that is always what is in staff’s report. We include that in our analysis, and that’s the information 
that you receive. 
Mr. Klingensmith: Just because I’m in this section, it’s Article 23 of the Zoning and Subdivision 
Regulations. That’s 33 pages, a little bit longer. 
Ms. Kriks: As Mr. Klingensmith indicated, in Article 23 there are the standards for our 
conditional use permits that staff also reviews and analyzes each point to each conditional use 
permit and the merit of that application to the standards of a conditional use permit on top of 
the Golden factors that Sean and Rick have talked about. 
Mr. Wingert: Thank you. 
Mr. Pendley: I was looking back for Rick to see if I could get a copy of that, but we do have the 
Golden factors report. This is one of those examples of the training sessions that we have 
provided in the past that we haven’t been able to do for a couple years now. We have a copy 
of that report, and we can provide that to all of the Board members. We will do that. We’ve got 
some good information, I think, for things that we could share. As I think Mr. Leipzig had 
mentioned, we had hoped to have a training session sometime this summer. We’re looking for 
a date that will work for all the Boards. What we try to do is have all the boards meet together, 
so we get everything together with everybody at once. We’ll provide that information in advance 
of that training for review and consideration. 
Ms. Rast: One more question. I don’t know, if you could just direct me. Just recently our little 
neighborhood woke up and everybody had flags all over their yards and then more flags came, 
and people started digging, but there was no communication. Nobody knew what was going 
on. Stilwell’s a little unique. There’s no leash law, so that can be a hazard if a dog doesn’t like 
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[inaudible] 
Ms. Rast: Right. I know what they’re doing. It’s more the process. It seems funny that they 
shouldn’t come in and people put a flyer on the door that this is coming in, just to…Because 
they broke through our underground dog fence. It could cause problems, and we do have a 
neighborhood dog that’s not leashed and has been known to bite people, so I was a little 
worried about the workers. 
Mr. Pendley: That’s why I say we wouldn’t know about that, because to be honest, those are 
things that they don’t go through the zoning board. They don’t go through Planning staff. Those 
are private utilities that, when they’re working within public right-of-way are within dedicated 
public utility easements they don’t need to go through a review process through Planning – 
Ms. Rast: No, I wasn’t expecting a review. Just like – 
Mr. Pendley: We wouldn’t even know about that. 
Mr. Klingensmith: Would that be Public Works that would have knowledge of that? 
Mr. Pendley: Public Works may have knowledge of that if they have a process for working 
within the public right-of-way. If they’re doing work within a public right-of-way, they usually, I 
think, have to get a public right-of-way permit, but yeah. That would be a Public Works question. 
Ms. Rast: It would have been…Some of the neighbors were mad and didn’t allow them on their 
yard, because they did have to walk into the back yard. Like, we have flags all the way up to 
our house. So they were not just in the public part. And it’s more just like you would think there’s 
a process just to protect these people. Because everybody’s a little on edge with all the crime 
and stuff. But no, we have flags going from the street all the way up to our front door. They’re 
everywhere. It just seemed strange that there was no heads-up, and there were a lot of people 
who were mad, and some got kicked out. It was more of a hassle for the people that were just 
coming trying to do…They’re like, “Look, we’re just doing what we were told. We have no idea.” 
It just seems weird that it wasn’t handled better, but I was just curious so I could follow up and 
– 
Mr. Pendley: I would think, all I could suggest, is maybe that would be something – 

somebody who is on their property, but also, like I have an underground dog fence. But it’s 
also, like who is in charge? Shouldn’t citizens be aware that all of this is going to happen and 
get some sort of heads-up before all the utility companies flag their yards and to give them an 
idea of what’s going on? Wouldn’t that seem appropriate? 
Mr. Pendley: I really couldn’t tell you what those flags are for. That could be something – 
Ms. Rast: No, I know. I found out now. It’s more of what’s the normal process, and who is in 
charge of that process to alert…because when I did ask the companies who were doing it they 
were like, “Nobody told you? You guys haven’t gotten…?” They made it sound like that was 
unusual, and literally our neighborhood is littered with every single, because they’re bringing – 

Ms. Rast: Public Works. 
Mr. Pendley: You could check with Public Works. I would not know how they handle a situation 
like that, and I’d be surprised if any type of contractor was working within private property 
without permission. That seems surprising. 
Ms. Rast: I can show you pictures. 
Mr. Pendley: Well, you know, it’s one of those things where I think it’s a difficult thing, because 
again, it’s not something that Planning and Zoning covers, so it would be – 
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Ms. Rast: No, I was just wondering if you knew who to direct me to – 
Mr. Pendley: I do not know, unfortunately. 
Ms. Rast: - to let them know kind of how it went. 
Mr. Pendley: We could certainly try to – 
Ms. Rast: Ken, get back to me. 
Mr. Klingensmith: It’s not for this agenda, but those are the Town Hall meetings that we have 
between the Sheriff’s Office and Public Works, and folks. Again, we’ve not had one for the last 
two or three quarters to really get in front of those folks, but that’s where I would kind of look 
at that as a community or township agenda item. 
Ms. Rast: Like I said, I felt bad for the workers, because they were just trying to do their job, 
and a lot of people were like, “Wait, what are you doing? What’s going on?” 
Mr. Pendley: We could certainly check with Public Works staff to see if they are familiar with 
those types of public right-of-way permits and what’s required and who reviews that. We could 
certainly see what we can find as well. 
[inaudible, off mic] 
Mr. Pendley: That’s the other thing I was going to suggest. Certainly, when they are on private 
property it is definitely a civil matter at that point. Hopefully find out who is the contractor 
responsible. That’s the key, I would say. Find out who is the company. I would definitely contact 
that provider directly. 
Chairman Loyd: Any other Code of Ethics, Oath of Office, Rick Lind questions? 
VI.  OTHER BUSINESS 
Chairman Loyd: No other business? 
VII.  ADJOURNMENT 
Motion by Mr. Bollin, seconded by Mr. Foil, for adjournment. 

Motion passed unanimously. 

Thereupon, with no further business to come before the Southeast Consolidated Zoning Board, 
Chairman Meier, at 7:45 p.m., declared the meeting to be Adjourned. 
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